## **RIGA TECHNICAL UNIVERSITY**

Faculty of Materials Science and Applied Chemistry Institute of Polymer Materials

## Aiga Ivdre

Doctoral Student of the Study Programme "Chemical Engineering"

# DEVELOPMENT OF INNOVATIVE POLYOL SYSTEMS FROM RECYCLED POLYETHYLENE TEREPHTHALATE AND RENEWABLE RAW MATERIALS FOR RIGID POLYURETHANE FOAMS

**Summary of the Doctoral Thesis** 

Scientific supervisors:

Professor Dr. sc. ing. REMO MERIJS-MERI

Lead Researcher Dr. sc. ing. UĢIS CĀBULIS

RTU Press Riga 2020 Ivdre, A. Development of Innovative Polyol Systems From Recycled Polyethylene Terephthalate and Renewable Raw Materials for Rigid Polyurethane Foams. Summary of the Doctoral Thesis. Riga: RTU Press, 2020. 40 p.

Published in accordance with the decision of the Promotion Council "RTU P-01" of 17 September 2020, Minutes No. 04030-9.1/8.

The Ph. D. thesis was developed in the Polymer Department of Latvian State Institute of Wood Chemistry and in the Institute of Polymer Materials of Riga Technical University.



Materiālzinātnes un lietišķās ķīmijas fakultāte



The work has been supported by the European Regional Development Fund Contract No. 2014/0043/2DP/2.1.1.1.0/14/APIA/VIAA/063 "Development of innovative polyols and polyol systems from recycled polyethylene terephthalate (PET) flakes and renewable raw materials".





IEGULDĪJUMS TAVĀ NĀKOTNĒ

https://doi.org/10.7250/9789934225253 ISBN 978-9934-22-524-6 (print) ISBN 978-9934-22-525-3 (pdf)

## DOCTORAL THESIS PROPOSED TO RIGA TECHNICAL UNIVERSITY FOR THE PROMOTION TO THE SCIENTIFIC DEGREE OF DOCTOR OF SCIENCE

To be granted the scientific degree of Doctor of Science (Ph. D.), the present Doctoral Thesis has been submitted for the defence at the open meeting of RTU Promotion Council on December 3, 2020 at the Faculty of Materials Science and Applied Chemistry of Riga Technical University, 3/7 P.Valdena Street, Room 272.

#### OFFICIAL REVIEWERS

Professor Dr. sc. ing. Jurijs Ozoliņš Riga Technical University, Latvia

Professor Dr. sc. ing. Hynek Benes Institute of Macromolecular Chemistry, Czech Academy of Sciences, Czech Republic

Docent Dr. chem. Ingars Reinholds University of Latvia, Latvia

#### DECLARATION OF ACADEMIC INTEGRITY

I hereby declare that the Doctoral Thesis submitted for the review to Riga Technical University for the promotion to the scientific degree of Doctor of Science (Ph. D.) is my own. I confirm that this Doctoral Thesis had not been submitted to any other university for the promotion to a scientific degree.

Aiga Ivdre ...... (signature)

Date: .....

The Doctoral Thesis is prepared as a thematically unified set of scientific publications. It contains 6 publications written in English. Total volume of the Doctoral Thesis is 74 pages. The summary contains an introduction; 3 chapters; conclusions; 19 figures; 6 tables; the total number of pages is 40. The Bibliography contains 72 titles.

## **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

ABBREVIATIONS AND SYMBOLS	. 5
INTRODUCTION	. 6
Actuality of the Topic	. 6
Aims and Objectives	. 7
Scientific Significance and Novelty	. 7
Practical Significance	. 8
Main Thesis to Defend	. 8
Structure and Volume of the Thesis	. 8
Publications and Approbation of the Thesis	.9
1. LITERATURE REVIEW 1	10
2. METHODS 1	12
2.1. Experimental Design	12
2.2. Synthesis and Characterization of Polyols	14
2.3. PU Foam Formulation, Obtaining, and Characterization	15
3. SUMMARY OF RESULTS 1	17
3.1. Polyols1	17
3.1.1. Chemical Structure of Polyols1	17
3.1.2. Polyol Suitability in the Production of Rigid PU Foams	20
3.1.3. Sustainable Material Content	22
3.2. Rigid PU Foams	23
3.2.1. Rigid PU Foams Based on Polyols With Different PET/DEG Ratios	24
3.2.2. Rigid PU Foams Based on Polyols With Different RO/PET	
and TO/PET Ratios2	25
3.2.3. Rigid PU Foams With Different Isocyanate Indices	26
3.2.4. Rigid PU Foams From Polyols With Functional Additives	30
3.2.5. The Most Promising Rigid PU Foams	33
CONCLUSIONS	34
REFERENCES	36
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	40

## **ABBREVIATIONS AND SYMBOLS**

ADA – adipic acid

DEG - diethylene glycol

DMA – dynamic mechanical analysis

E – elastic modulus

EG – ethylene glycol

GL – glycerol

GL/ADA – aromatic polyester polyols based on polyethylene terepthalate with glycerol and adipic acid as functional additives

GL/ADA-RO – aromatic polyester polyols based on polyethylene terepthalate and rapeseed oil with glycerol and adipic acid as functional additives

II – isocyanate index

Index x – perpendicular to foaming direction

Index z – parallel to foaming direction

KAc – potassium acetate

 $\lambda$  – thermal conductivity

LUPR - polyurethane foam series based on Lupranol 3300 polyol

 $\mu$  – viscosity

NEO - polyurethane foam series based on Neopolyol 380 polyol

 $OH_v$  – hydroxyl value

PET – polyethylene terephtalate

PMDI - polymerized diphenylmethane diisocyanate

PIR – polyisocyanurate

PU – polyurethane

*R.H.* – relative humidity

RO/PET - rapeseed oil / polyethylene terephthalate

RO/TEA - rapeseed oil / triethanolamine

 $\sigma$  – compression strength

 $tan\delta$  – damping factor

TEA – triethanolamine

 $T_{\rm g}$  – glass transition temperature

TO/PET – tall oil/polyethelene terephtalate

#### **INTRODUCTION**

#### Actuality of the Topic

As society's responsibility for the environment increases, the more and more legislative and directive emphasis is placed on the use of sustainable resources (both renewable and recycled) as valuable raw materials for the production of various materials. This also applies to polyurethane (PU) foams, which are mainly produced from petroleum raw materials. Rigid PU foams are widely used as one of the most effective thermal insulation materials, which reduces energy consumption in various industries. Its use in thermal insulation is growing, and cheaper and better solutions are being sought for PU production. The main raw materials for PU production are polyol and isocyanate. The use of recycled materials and renewable raw materials in the production of polyols has several advantages: production is more environmentally friendly and it is possible to improve the properties of the final product. In the dissertation rapeseed and tall oil were selected as renewable raw materials and polyethylene terephthalate (PET) flakes from PET bottles as recycled raw material.

Nowadays vegetable oils are already used in the production of polyols. The most used one is soybean oil. Soybean is not an oilseed crop typical for the Europe, but rapeseed oil as a raw material could be a competitive polyol resource. It is one of the most popular oil crops in Europe, including Latvia. Tall oil, on the other hand, is one of the most commercially important by-products of pulp and paper production.

PET is one of the most versatile plastics, mainly used in the production of textile fibers and soft drink bottles. The recycling of used PET bottles is a worldwide concern because, although PET bottles do not pose a direct risk to the environment, they do not decompose in the environment and thus constitute a significant volume of solid waste streams. At present, the recycling of used PET bottles continues to develop rapidly in the world and also in Latvia, where PET is separated from the waste stream and mechanically recycled or processed to obtain PET granules and PET flakes of various qualities. Aromatic polyester polyols suitable for PUR production can be obtained from PET chemical processing.

The polyols available on the market obtained exclusively from the recycled industrial PET waste have several very significant disadvantages: high viscosity, incompatibility with physical foaming agents, and crystallization at room temperature. High viscosity and crystallization make it difficult to obtain PU foams using industrial spraying and casting equipment – preheating of polyol and higher pump capacities are required. Incompatibility with physical foaming agents and crystallization at room temperature do not allow stable long-term storage of polyol systems – delamination and heterogeneity of the systems negatively affect the properties of the PU foams obtained from them. On the other hand, most of the polyols from vegetable oils that are available on the market do not contain an aromatic group in their chemical structure, thus the thermal and mechanical properties of PU foams obtained from them are weaker. It would be possible to obtain polyols with improved properties by using both PET and vegetable oils as raw materials.

#### **Aims and Objectives**

The Thesis aims to develop innovative polyols suitable for the production of rigid PU foam from recycled PET flakes and renewable raw material resources (rapeseed oil and tall oil) and to evaluate the effect of polyols on the most important properties of rigid PU foams as a thermal insulation material.

According to the aim of the work, the following tasks have been set:

- to develop a methodology for the synthesis of polyols based on tall oil and PET (TO/PET polyols), as well as from rapeseed oil and PET (RO/PET polyols) with and without functional additives;
- 2) to characterize the developed polyols, to assess their compatibility with physical foaming agents, and to determine their long-term storage stability;
- 3) to develop polyol systems (formulations) based on the synthesized polyols and to obtain rigid PU foams with isocyanate 130 (II = 130);
- 4) to obtain PU foams based on RO/PET polyols with different isocyanate indices;
- 5) to characterize and evaluate the influence of rapeseed oil, tall oil, PET, functional additives, and the isocyanate index on the properties of rigid PU foams;
- 6) to compare the obtained PU foams from the developed polyols with the PU foams obtained from rapeseed oil, tall oil, and commercially available polyols (reference polyols).

#### Scientific Significance and Novelty

As a result of research, the synthesis methods were developed for TO/PET polyols and RO/PET polyols with and without functional additives – cross-linking agent glycerol (GL) and chain extender adipic acid (ADA). The most optimal synthesis conditions and raw material ratios have been determined to obtain low viscous innovative polyols, which are stable against crystallization and form a stable homogeneous system with physical foaming agents and other components of the polyol system.

The effects of rapeseed and tall oil, PET, functional additives, and isocyanate index on the compressive strength, elastic modulus, water absorption, closed-cell content, thermal conductivity, and other characteristics of rigid PU foam as a thermal insulation material have been studied. The most suitable polyols and recommended isocyanate indices for obtaining rigid PU foams have been determined in comparison with rigid PU foams from reference polyols. Properties of developed rigid PU foams correspond to application of thermal insulation material.

#### **Practical Significance**

The synthesis of innovative polyols based on PET and rapeseed oil, as well as from PET and tall oil have been developed. The resulting low-viscosity polyols are compatible with physical foaming agents and do not crystallize at room temperature. Thus, it is possible to create polyol systems that exhibit long-term stabilility.

The suitability of polyols in the production of rigid PU foams has been proven. The properties of the obtained final materials are suitable for use as thermal insulation materials. They are rated as competitive with commercially available rigid PU foams.

#### **Main Thesis to Defend**

- 1. It is possible to synthesize low-viscosity polyols from rapeseed oil and PET, as well as from tall oil and PET, that are stable against crystallization during long-term storage, as well as are compatible with foaming agents.
- 2. RO/PET and TO/PET polyols are suitable for the production of rigid PU foams.
- 3. It is possible to vary and improve the properties of rigid PU foams by using functional additives such as GL and ADA in the synthesis of polyols.
- 4. The aromatic structure of RO/PET and TO/PET polyols allow obtaining rigid PU foams with improved properties compared to the PU foams based on rapeseed oil and tall oil polyols without the aromatic structure.

#### **Structure and Volume of the Thesis**

The Thesis is a compilation of scientific publications focusing on the synthesis of innovative polyols from recycled PET and renewable raw materials and the use of developed polyols for the production of rigid PU foams. Three types of polyols and PU foams were obtained and characterized:

- 1. Based on rapeseed oil and PET without functional additives, varying:
  - a) PET and diethylene glycol (DEG) ratio (publication No. 1);
  - b) RO/PET ratio (publication No. 2);
  - c) isocyanate index (publication No. 3).
- 2. Based on tall oil and PET (publication No. 4).
- 3. Based on rapeseed oil and PET with functional additives GL and ADA (publications No. 5 and 6).

#### **Publications and Approbation of the Thesis**

The scientific achievements and main results of the Thesis are discussed in 6 publications indexed in Scopus, as well as reported in 4 international scientific conferences.

#### Scientific publications

- A. Paberza, A. Fridrihsone-Girone, A. Abolins, U. Cabulis. Polyols from recycled poly(ethylene terephthalate) flakes and rapeseed oil for polyurethane foams. *Polimery*, 2015, 60(9), 572–578.
- 2. A. Ivdre, A. Fridrihsone-Girone, A. Abolins, U. Cabulis. Effect of Different Concentration of Rapeseed Oil and Recycled Poly (Ethylene Terephthalate) in Polyols for Rigid Polyurethane Foams. *Journal of Cellular Plastics*, **2018**, *54*(2), 161–177.
- A. Ivdre, A. Abolins, I. Sevastyanova, M. Kirpluks, R. Merijs-Meri, U. Cabulis. Polyurethane/Polyisocyanurate Foams with Various Isocyanate Indices Based on Polyols from Rapeseed Oil and Waste PET. *Polymers: Cellular Polymeric Materials*, 2020, 12, 738.
- 4. **A. Ivdre**, G. D.Soto, U. Cabulis. Polyols Based on Poly(ethylene terephthalate) and Tall Oil: Synthesis and Perspective in Production of Rigid Polyurethane Foams. *Journal of Renewable Materials*, **2016**, *4*, 285–293.
- 5. G. Gaidukova, **A. Ivdre**, A. Fridrihsone, A. Verovkins, U. Cabulis, S. Gaidukovs. Polyurethane rigid foams obtained from polyols containing bio-based and recycled components and functional additives. *Industrial Crops and Products*, **201**7, 133–143.
- 6. S. Gaidukovs, G. Gaidukova, A. Ivdre, U. Cabulis. Viscoelastic and thermal properties of polyurethane foams obtained from renewable and recyclable components. *Journal of Renewable Materials*, **2018**, *6*(7), 755–763.

#### The results of the Thesis were presented at the following conferences

- 1. **A. Ivdre**, G. D. Soto, U. Cabulis. Polyols Based on Tall Oil and Rapeseed Oil in Combination with PET for Production of Rigid Polyurethane Foams. *BiPoCo 2016*, Szeged, Hungary, 28 August 1 September 2016.
- 2. A. Abolins, **A. Paberza**, A. Fridrihsone-Girone, U. Cabulis. Recycled PET flakes and rapeseed oil as feedstock for rigid polyurethane foams. *Baltic Polymer Symposium 2015*, Latvia, Sigulda, 16–18 September 2016.
- 3. **A. Paberza**, A. Fridrihsone-Girone, A. Abolins, U. Cabulis. Rigid polyurethane foams as thermal insulation material based on recycled PET and rapeseed oil. *6th Workshop Green Chemistry and Nanotechnologies in Polymer Chemistry*, Portugal, Bragansa, 15–17 July 2015.
- U. Cabulis, M. Kirpluks, A. Paberza, A. Fridrihsone-Girone, I. Vitkauskiene. Balance between renewable and recyclable feedstock for rigid polyurethane foams. 6th Workshop Green Chemistry and Nanotechnologies in Polymer Chemistry, Portugal, Bragansa, 15–17 July 2015.

#### **1. LITERATURE REVIEW**

Vegetable oils are promising feedstocks for the synthesis of biobased materials due to their wide availability, low cost, and a large variety of potentially reactive groups in their structure [1], [2]. Polyols from vegetable oils, such as soybean [3], [4], castor [5], [6], palm [7], [8], sunflower [9], [10], and rapeseed oil [11], [12] have been synthesized and investigated as an alternative to petrochemical polyols in the production of PUs. Rapeseed is an especially important oil plant in the temperate climate region. Its production is showing a growing trend both in Europe and around the world [13], [14].

Typical synthesis pathways to produce polyols from vegetable oils such as epoxidation and opening of oxirane rings [11], [15], transesterification with triethanolamine (TEA), and transamidation with diethanolamine [15], [16] are also applied for rapeseed oil. Hence rapeseed polyols with various chemical structure and properties can be offered for the PU market. According to Zieleniewska *et al.*, the investigations of PU foams from rapeseed oil polyols, in comparison with petroleum-based PU foams, show competitive advantages such as lower water absorption (due to the hydrophobicity of fatty acids), higher thermal stability, and improved renewable material content for rigid PU foams. However, lower compressive strength and higher friability have been reported as disadvantages [11]. Hard segment incorporation into the structure of PU foams would allow to avoid these disadvanateges and improve the mechanical properties of the foam [17]. For this purpose, polyols from recycled polyethylene terephthalate (PET) can be successfully employed in PU formulations [18], [19].

One of the disadvantages of vegetable oils is that most of them are first-generation biobased raw materials, so they are also used in the food and feed production. Therefore, polyol synthesis from tall oil, which is a second-generation biobased raw material, is with additional advantage [20]. Tall oil is a byproduct of the Kraft pulping process of pine wood. Unlike vegetable oils consisting of triacylglycerols, tall oil contains higher amounts of unsaturated free fatty acids (36–48 wt. %), mainly oleic acid and linoleic acid, and resin acids or rosin (26–42 wt. %), which are cyclic terpenes [21].

A tall oil-based polyol can be obtained by reaction of carboxyl groups present in the fatty acids with triethanolamine (TEA) or diethanolamine via an esterification or amidization pathway [22]. Also, the esterification of tall oil with aromatic polyester polyols is found in the patent literature. Moreover, these polyols were found to be compatible with the trichlorofluoromethane blowing agent [23].

The high popularity of PET as a packaging material and its non-biodegradability creates huge amounts of solid waste, therefore effective recycling of PET is crucial [24], [25]. In 2017, 58.2 % (1.9 million tonnes) of the more than three million tonnes of PET bottles in the European market were collected for recycling [26]. PET waste can be recycled either physically or chemically. One of the chemical recycling products of PET is an aromatic polyester polyol that is suitable for obtaining PU. There are various chemical recycling pathways for aromatic polyester polyol synthesis: hydrolysis, aminolysis, methanolysis, and glycolysis [27]. The glycolysis is the most popular chemical recycling method, which has been commercialized [28]. Different depolymerization agents have been employed, for example, ethylene glycol (EG) [24],

[28], DEG [29], [30], propylene glycol [32], etc. in the glycolysis to obtain oligomers or oligoester diols/polyols with hydroxyl terminal groups. As mentioned before, aromatic polyester polyols improve the mechanical properties and thermal stability of PU foams. Moreover, they partly solve PET waste problems and decrease PU dependence on the petroleum feedstock. However, PET polyols' high viscosity, fast crystallization, and incompatibility with a blowing agent have been reported as their drawbacks [33], whereas polyols from plant oils do not exhibit these disadvantages. It has been proposed that the compatibility of such aromatic polyester polyols could be improved by the addition of  $\varepsilon$ -caprolactone, butanediol, polyglycols, GL, and ADA additives, which modify the branching and functionality of the molecular backbone of the aromatic polyester polyols [33], [34]. The positive effects of castor and palm oils on the structure of the aromatic polyester polyols have been reported [35], [36]. Thus, the final thermal and physical-mechanical properties of the PU materials can be improved [38]. Hence, the combination of PET and natural oils, such as rapeseed and tall oil, could also eliminate the mentioned disadvantages of aromatic polyester polyols and improve their suitability for the production of rigid PU foams.

Rigid PU and polyisocyanurate (PIR) foams are one of the most effective thermal insulation materials of the conventional, which are mainly used for civil engineering as well as for the refrigeration industry. PUs are produced in the exothermic reactions between alcohols with two or more reactive hydroxyl groups (–OH) per molecule (diols, triols, polyols) and isocyanates that have more than one reactive isocyanate group (–NCO) per molecule (diisocyanates, polyisocyanates) (Fig. 1.1). Whereas isocyanurate forms via trimerization of isocyanate as a side reaction during PU formation [39].



Fig. 1.1 The basic reaction for urethane formation: a – diol; b – diisocyanate [40].

The amount of PU bonds and isocyanurate rings is closely related to a parameter called isocyanate index, which is the ratio of the equivalent amount of isocyanate used relative to the theoretical equivalent amount times 100. A theoretical equivalent amount is equal to one equivalent isocyanate per equivalent OH group. Higher isocyanate index incorporates more isocyanurate rings and increases the non-renewable material content in the end-product. The amount of isocyanurate rings in the polymer matrix affects the performance of PU foams. The increase in glass transition temperature ( $T_g$ ), dimensional stability, thermal stability as well as thermal insulation properties with increasing isocyanate index value is reported [15], [39]. The rigid PU foams formulations normally have an index between 105 and 125, and formulations for rigid PU-PIR foams have an index between 180 and 350 [42]. The influence of the isocyanate index on the performance of rigid PU and PIR foams based on polyols synthesised from both, PET and natural oil polyols, has not been previously reported.

#### 2. METHODS

#### 2.1. Experimental Design

Figure 2.1 shows an experimental design for the synthesis of rapeseed oil and PET polyols without functional additives, as well as for the production of rigid PU foams from the synthesized polyols. First, three polyols were synthesized using three different PET/DEG ratios for PET depolymerization. From them, the most optimal ration was selected and five polyols with different ratios of rapeseed oil and PET were synthesized. PU foams with isocyanate index II = 130 were obtained from all polyols. A series of PU foams with different isocyanate indices (II = 110-180) was created from the most promising RO/PET polyol. Reference PU foams obtained from the following base polyols were used for comparison: aliphatic polyether polyol Lupranol 3300, aromatic polyester polyol Neopolyol 380, and rapeseed oil / TEA (RO/TEA) polyol. The reference PU foam series were named LUPR, NEO, and RO/TEA series respectively.



Fig. 2.1. Schematic experimental plan for RO/PET polyol synthesis and PU foam development.

Five TO/PET polyols were synthesized from tall oil and PET and series of PU foams with II = 130 were obtained (Fig. 2.2).



Fig. 2.2. Schematic experimental plan for TO/PET polyol synthesis and PU foam development.

Schematic plan of the experiments for the synthesis of rapeseed oil and PET polyols with functional additives GL and ADA is shown in Figure 2.3. First, seven polyols were synthesized by depolymerizing PET with DEG and adding GL and ADA in various ratios. The resulting polyols were named GL/ADA polyols. Afterwards, these polyols were transesterified with RO/TEA polyol and seven new polyols were obtained, named GL/ADA-RO polyols. Fourteen PU formulations with II = 130 were developed and PU foams were obtained. For three of the rigid PU foam formulations, the viscoelastic and thermal properties were described in more detail in a separate publication [43].



Fig. 2.3. Schematic experimental plan for GL/ADA and GL/ADA-RO polyol synthesis and PU foam development.

#### 2.2. Synthesis and Characterization of Polyols

All polyols were synthesized in a 1 L three-necked flask equipped with a mechanical stirrer, a thermometer, and an argon inlet capillary.

RO/PET polyols were obtained in a continuous two-step synthesis.

 In the first step, rapeseed oil was transesterified with TEA at 170 °C ± 5 °C for 1 hour in the presence of the catalyst zinc acetate. The molar RO/TEA ratio was 1 : 2.9, zinc acetate was added 0.15 % by weight of the raw materials (rapeseed oil and TEA). The idealized reaction scheme is given in Figure 2.4.



Fig. 2.4. Rapeseed oil transesterification with TEA.

2. In the second step, the temperature was raised to 230 °C and PET, DEG, and additional Zn acetate (0.5 % by weight of PET) were added to the reaction mixture. The temperature of 220–230 °C was maintained for 4 hours. The idealized reaction scheme is given in Figure 2.5. At the same time, the aromatic polyester was transesterified with RO/TEA polyol.



Fig. 2.5. PET glycolysis with DEG.

To obtain GL/ADA-RO polyols, three sequential syntheses were required.

- In the first synthesis, aromatic polyester polyols were obtained by glycolysis of PET with DEG in the presence of zinc acetate. First, DEG was heated to 190 °C, zinc acetate, and GL were added. ADA was added after 20–30 minutes, PET was added after another 20–30 minutes. The reaction temperature was raised to 240–250 °C. When all the PET had melted, the synthesis was continued for another 1 h. In total, the mixture was heated for 3 h at 240–250 °C.
- 2. In the second synthesis, RO/TEA polyol was synthesized separately as described above.
- 3. In the third synthesis, RO/TEA polyol was transesterified with the obtained GL/ADA polyols at 180 °C for 1 hour, polyol weight ratio 1 : 1.

TO/PET polyols were synthesized similarly to RO/PET polyols, but in 2 separate syntheses.

1. At first, tall oil transesterification with TEA (TO/TEA = 1/1.33 M) was carried out (reaction scheme in Fig. 2.6). Tall oil was heated to  $175 \text{ }^{\circ}\text{C} \pm 5 \text{ }^{\circ}\text{C}$  under argon, then

TEA heated to 70 °C was added. The esterification was carried out for 4 to 5 hours at 175 °C  $\pm$  5 °C until the acid number was less than 5 (mg KOH)/g. The vacuum distillation was then carried out at a pressure of 0.267 bar.

2. Zinc acetate and DEG heated to 70 °C were added to the TO/PET polyol at 210 °C. PET flakes were added in 2 portions at 30 min intervals. After the PET flakes had dissolved, the temperature was raised to 235 °C, and the synthesis was continued for 4 h. Then the reaction mixture was allowed to cool down to room temperature.



Fig. 2.6. Tall oil esterification with TEA.

The synthesized polyols were characterized by the methods summarized in Table 2.1.

Table 2.1

Parameter	Description/standard		
Hydroxyl value $(OH_v)$	Acetylation method, DIN 53240		
Acid value	DIN 53402		
Water content (w <sub>H2O</sub> )Carl Fisher method, DIN 54777			
Viscosity	Haake Viscotester 6L/R 20 °C		
Chemical structure	FTIR-ATR; Perkin-Elmer Spectrum One FTIR spektrometrs, $4000 \text{ cm}^{-1}$ to 650 cm <sup>-1</sup> , resolution 4 cm <sup>-1</sup>		
Compatibility with	To 10 g of polyol add 20 % Solkane 365/227 or pentane, centrifuge for 15 min at		
blowing agents	55 rpm. It is then visually observed for phase separation		
Long-term stability	Visual observation at room temperature for 3 months		

Methods for Characterization of Polyols

#### 2.3. PU Foam Formulation, Obtaining, and Characterization

The formulations of polyol components (Table 2.2) included the synthesized base polyol, the high-functionality polyol as a crosslinking reagent – Lupranol 3422, the flame retardant Levagard PP (trichloropropyl phosphate), the catalysts PC CAT NP-10 and potassium acetate (KAc) in DEG solution, foaming agent Solkane 365/227, and water. To compare the obtained foams with each other, the formulations were similar for all series. The amount of foaming agents was adjusted so that the apparent density of the obtained PU foams would be ~40–45 kg/m<sup>3</sup>. The chosen density is optimal for PU thermal insulation materials.

PU foams were obtained by reacting a polyol component with polymerized diphenylmethane diisocyanate (PMDI) by mixing with a mechanical stirrer (2000 rpm) for 5 to 10 s. After mixing the components, the resulting mixture was poured into a mold (0.5 L cups or  $30 \text{ cm} \times 30 \text{ cm} \times 15 \text{ cm}$  box) and allowed to foam freely. The foaming height in the box did not exceed 8 cm. After 24 h, the samples were cut to the required size for further testing.

	Amount, pbw						
Raw materials	PET/DEG <i>II</i> = 130	RO/PET <i>II</i> = 130	RO/PET	GL/ADA and	TO/DET		
			<i>II</i> = 110–180	GL/ADA-RO	IO/PE1 $II = 130$		
			and references	H = 130			
Base polyol	70	75	75	70	75		
Lupranol 3422	30	25	25	30	25		
Levagard PP	16	16	20	16	20		
NIAX Silicone L6915	1.5	1.5	2.0	1.5	2		
30 % KAc solution in DEG	0	0	$1.0-1.5^{1}$	0	1.2		
PC CAT NP-10	1.6	1.6	$1.6-4.0^2$	1.6	1.2		
Water	2.2	2.2	2.2	2.2	0		
Solkane 365/227	16	16	16	16	25		

Polyol Component Formulations for Rigid PU Foams

<sup>1</sup> only for II = 150 and II = 180 formulations

<sup>2</sup> 4,0 pbw were added for LUPR series to improve reactivity

The required amount of PMDI is calculated according to Formula (3.1) formula:

$$m_{\rm PMDI} = \frac{II}{w_{\rm NCO}} \left( \sum \frac{OH_{\rm skn} m_n}{1336} + 4.67 m_{\rm H2O} \right), \tag{3.1}$$

where II – isocyanate index;  $m_{PMDI}$  – mass of PMDI, g;  $w_{NCO}$  – content of NCO groups in PMDI, % ( $w_{NCO}$  = 31.5 %);  $OH_{vn}$  – polyol n hydroxyl number, (mg KOH)/g;  $m_{H2O}$  – mass of water, g.

The methods used for the characterization of PU foams are summarized in Table 2.3.

Table 2.3

Methods Used for Characterization of Rigid PU Foams

Parameters	Description/standard				
Foaming parameters	Start, gel and tack-free time by visual observation				
Apparent density	ISO 845				
Closed-cell content	ISO 4590				
Thermal conductivity	ISO 8301				
	ISO 844 – Compression strength and modulus of elasticity were normalized to an				
	apparent density of 45 kg/m <sup>3</sup> using Hawkins et al. equations [44]:				
Compression strength and elastic modulus	$E_{\text{norm}} = E_{\text{exp}} \left(\frac{45}{\rho}\right)^{1.7} \text{ and } \sigma_{\text{norm}} = \sigma_{\text{exp}} \left(\frac{45}{\rho}\right)^{2.1}, \text{ where}$				
	$E_{\rm norm}$ – normalized modulus of elasticity; $E_{\rm exp}$ – experimental modulus of elasticity; $\rho$				
	– apparent density of the foam; $\sigma_{norm}$ – normalized compression strength; $\sigma_{exp}$ –				
	experimental compression strength				
Anisotropy	Is calculated by dividing the compressive strength parallel to the foaming direction				
Anisotropy	by the compressive strength perpendicular to the foaming direction				
Water absorption	ISO 2896 by immersion for 7 days				
Dimonsional stability	ISO 2796, 2 modes: 1) 28 days at 70 °C temperature, dry conditions;				
Dimensional stability	2) 28 days at 70 °C temperature, relative humidity $R.H. = 97$ %				
Chamical structure	FTIR-ATR; Perkin-Elmer Spectrum One FTIR spectrophotometer				
Chemical structure	$4000 \text{ cm}^{-1}$ to 650 cm <sup>-1</sup> , resolution 4 cm <sup>-1</sup>				
Morphology	Optical microscopy, scanning electron microscopy				
Thermal properties	Thermogravimetry, thermomechanical analysis, differential scanning calorimetry				
Viscoelastic properties	Dynamic mechanical analysis (DMA) in compression mode				

### **3. SUMMARY OF RESULTS**

#### 3.1. Polyols

#### 3.1.1. Chemical Structure of Polyols

In the synthesis of RO/PET polyols, esterification of rapeseed oil with TEA (results in RO/TEA polyol), PET glycolysis, as well as transesterification of the obtained aromatic polyester polyol with RO/TEA polyol took place. Similarly, TO/PET polyols were synthesized by transesterification of aromatic polyester with TO/TEA polyol. Some of the possible reactions are given in Figure 3.1.



Fig. 3.1. Possible reactions for transesterification of the aromatic polyester polyol with RO/TEA or TO/TEA polyol.



Fig. 3.2. Possible structure of GL/ADA-RO polyols with structure fragments of GL and ADA.

In the synthesis of GL/ADA-RO polyols, fragments of GL and ADA structures were incorporated in the polyol structure (Fig. 3.2). GL serves as a cross-linking reagent and ADA as a chain extender.

FTIR-ATR analysis was performed to characterize the chemical structure of polyols. The results are shown in Figure 3.3. Spectra of RO/TEA and NEO polyol were also added to compare the polyols. The FTIR spectra of the GL/ADA and GL/ADA-RO polyols were very similar, regardless of the concentration of functional additives used during their preparation. Hence, only the polyols containing 1/1 and 6/6 of GL/ADA have been included as representatives in Figure 3.3 d.



Fig. 3.3. FTIR-ATR spectra of synthesized polyols: a) RO/PET polyols with different PET/DEG ratios; b) polyols with different RO/PET ratios; c) TO/PET polyols; d) GL/ADA and GL/ADA-RO polyols.

For the synthesized polyols, similar relationships are observed in the FTIR-ATR spectra:

- 1. The band at 3400 cm<sup>-1</sup> (valence fluctuations of hydroxyl groups) increases by the increasing amount of PET and correlates with  $OH_v$  (Table 3.1).
- 2. For TO/PET polyols, a small peak at 3005 cm<sup>-1</sup> corresponds to cis-double bond stretching from oleic and linoleic acid in tall oil, therefore this peak increases for polyols with higher tall oil content.
- 3. Symmetric and asymmetric stretching of  $CH_2$  (two bands at 2920 cm<sup>-1</sup> and 2855 cm<sup>-1</sup>) are more intense for polyols with a higher amount of rapeseed oil. Absorption in this region results from the long fatty acid side chains.
- 4. A sharp band at 1720 cm<sup>-1</sup> corresponds to the carbonyl C=O bonds in the ester groups. With depolymerized PET more ester bonds are introduced into the structure of polyols. The absorption intensity for GL/ADA-RO polyols is less than for GL/ADA polyols, which is in line with the decrease in the number of ester groups due to the transesterification reaction.
- 5. The presence of depolymerized PET aromatic structures is confirmed by two small peaks –C=C stretching vibrations at 1505 cm<sup>-1</sup> and 1410 cm<sup>-1</sup>, as well as absorption bands of bending and stretching vibrations of aromatic C-H at 875 cm<sup>-1</sup> and 730 cm<sup>-1</sup>, and the stretching vibration band of the aromatic C-O carbonyl group at 1265 cm<sup>-1</sup> and 1120 cm<sup>-1</sup>.
- 6. A peak around 1450  $\text{cm}^{-1}$  indicates the presence of methylene groups, while an additional peak at about 1375  $\text{cm}^{-1}$  is caused by a methyl group.
- 7. A small peak at 892 cm<sup>-1</sup> (over-lapped with a peak at 875 cm<sup>-1</sup>) corresponds to the OC<sub>2</sub>H<sub>4</sub> moieties of DEG backbone, and a small peak at 920 cm<sup>-1</sup> is due to the vibrations of C–O in DEG. These two peaks form the basis of DEG detection [45].



Fig. 3.4. FTIR spectra for GL/ADA and GL/ADA-RO polyols: a) -OH; b)  $-CH_2-$ ; c) aromatic group absorption at 875 cm<sup>-1</sup>; d) aromatic group absorption at 730 cm<sup>-1</sup>.

For GL/ADA and GL/ADA-RO polyols, the ranges of vibrations of hydroxyl, aliphatic bonds, and aromatic groups, which are important for the information on polyol bonds, are shown in more detail in Figure 3.4. The absolute absorption intensity at 3400 cm<sup>-1</sup> is higher for GL/ADA polyols associated with higher  $OH_v$  values compared to the GL/ADA-RO polyol series. The OH groups of GL/ADA polyols are consumed for transesterification with RO/TEA polyol. In the 3000–2700 cm<sup>-1</sup> range, two intense bands at 2920 cm<sup>-1</sup> and 2875 cm<sup>-1</sup> can be observed, which, as mentioned above, is due to the CH<sub>2</sub> groups in the polymer chain backbone. These characteristic intensities are more pronounced for GL/ADA-RO polyols than for GL/ADA polyols. Another significant difference is the appearance of an absorption band at 875 cm<sup>-1</sup> and 730 cm<sup>-1</sup> corresponding to the aromatic groups from recycled PET oligomers. These absorption bands intensify for GL/ADA-RO polyols, which is consistent with the overall decrease in the recyclate (aromatic component) content in the GL/ADA-RO polyols.

#### 3.1.2. Polyol Suitability in the Production of Rigid PU Foams

The properties of developed polyols are summarizaed in Table 3.1 along with the properties of reference polyols. Further, the suitability of polyols in the production of rigid PU foams was evaluated. The moisture content in all polyols is in acceptable amounts. The moisture content of polyols used in the specific PU formulation is taken into account, water serves as a foaming agent. It is recommended that the acid number is below 5 (mg KOH)/g. Otherwise, polyol systems formulated with amine-type catalysts are unstable because acid groups react with amine groups, making them ineffective. This criterion is almost met by all polyols, except for TO/PET 1/1 and TO/PET 1/2. TO/PET polyols have a higher acid number than other polyols because tall oil contains 20 % resin acids.

 $OH_v$  of the obtained polyols vary in a wide range from 193 (mg KOH)/g (for TO/PET 1/1 polyol) to 520 (mg KOH)/g (for RO/PET 1/8 polyol).  $OH_v$  is higher for polyols that contain more recycled PET. This is due to both the higher  $OH_v$  of aromatic polyester than RO/TEA and TO/TEA polyols and the excess of DEG used in polyol synthesis. Polyols with such  $OH_v$  can be used in the development of rigid PU foams of different densities.

In GL/ADA polyols with increasing concentrations of the functional additives GL and ADA from 0/1 to 6/6,  $OH_v$  increases by 20 % (from 472 (mg KOH)/g to 515 (mg KOH)/g). After the transesterification reaction, GL/ADA-RO polyols  $OH_v$  decrease by ~20 %.

In PET glycolysis oligomeric polyols with high viscosity (for polyol GL/ADA 0/1 polyol  $\mu = 3130 \text{ mPa} \cdot \text{s}$ ) were obtained. The addition of a small amount (1–6 %) of GL and/or ADA reduced the viscosity of these polyols by about three times (for GL/ADA 6/6 polyol  $\mu = 1165 \text{ mPa} \cdot \text{s}$ ). Low-viscosity polyols have several advantages: more efficient mixing of polyol systems is possible (which affects the homogeneity and quality of the foam) and easiness of processing polyol in the production of rigid PU foam [46]. The viscosity of RO/PET polyols is ~20 times lower than that of the commercially available aromatic polyester polyol NEO, but only three times higher than that of RO/TEA polyol.

#### Table 3.1

Polyol series	Sample	<i>OH</i> <sub>v</sub> , (mg KOH)/g	Acid value, (mg KOH)/g	w <sub>H2O</sub> , %	Viscosity ± 30, 20 °C, mPa·s
	RO/PET-2	233	3.2	0.23	1250
	RO/PET-4	340	2.8	0.19	540
	RO/PET-6	368	2.3	0.27	250
DO/DET	RO/PET 1/1	312	3.0	0.38	380
KU/PE1	RO/PET 1/2	322	3.5	0.26	410
	RO/PET 1/4	388	2.6	0.20	400
	RO/PET 1/6	514	1.8	0.18	280
	<b>RO/PET 1/8</b>	520	1.5	0.17	260
	GL/ADA 0/1	472	3.0	0.17	3130
	GL/ADA 1/1	466	2.9	0.18	2490
	GL/ADA 1/3	466	2.6	0.22	2060
GL/ADA	GL/ADA 1/6	492	2.7	0.18	1650
	GL/ADA 3/3	531	1.8	0.11	1260
	GL/ADA 3/6	503	3.2	0.11	1170
	GL/ADA 6/6	515	1.3	0.09	1170
	GL/ADA-RO 0/1	405	4.0	0.11	700
	GL/ADA-RO 1/1	408	4.2	0.14	730
	GL/ADA-RO 1/3	417	2.9	0.09	820
GL/ADA-RO	GL/ADA-RO 1/6	399	2.8	0.13	730
	GL/ADA-RO 3/3	449	2.5	0.10	710
	GL/ADA-RO 3/6	440	2.7	0.16	730
	GL/ADA-RO 6/6	400	3.2	0.11	850
	TO/PET 1/1	193	6.2	0.23	1170
TO/PET	TO/PET 1/2	246	5.5	0.11	1500
	TO/PET 1/4	306	3.6	0.08	1850
	TO/PET 1/6	292	3.4	0.07	2300
	TO/PET 1/8	384	3.7	0.22	2750
	RO/TEA	363	2.5	0.12	160
Reference	Neopolyol 380	366	2.9	0.12	9640
	Lupranol 3300	400	—	0.09	370

Polyol Characteristics

The obtained polyols were tested for compatibility with physical foaming agent Solkane 365/227. The compatibility of polyol with the foaming agent determines the stability of the polyol system as well as affects the properties of rigid PU foams, such as shrinkage and dimensional stability. It was verified that all RO/PET and TO/PET polyols are compatible with physical foaming agents – Solkane 365/227 and pentane. Compatibility is good because polyol contains long, non-polar, hydrophobic chain sections that are introduced with rapeseed or tall oil. The aromatic ester polyol Neopolyol 380 showed poor compatibility with the foaming agent – phase separation of the foaming agent was observed (Fig. 3.5 a). GL/ADA polyols were also incompatible with Solkane 365/227. The foaming agent delaminates less (Fig. 3.5 b) by increasing the concentration of GL and ADA in polyol because the number of aliphatic fragments in the polyol increases. All GL/ADA-RO polyols were fully compatible with Solkane 365/227, as the polyols contain long, non-polar aliphatic chains that are introduced with the fatty acid residues in the RO/TEA polyol.



Fig. 3.5. Polyol compatibility with Solkane 365/227: a) RO/PET polyols with different PET/DEG ratio and reference polyols; b) RO/PET polyols 1/1–1/8; c) GL/ADA polyols.

Within half a year, no crystallization was observed for the polyols containing rapeseed or tall oil. The only exceptions were RO/PET 1/8, TO/PET 1/6, and TO/PET 1/8 polyols, which crystallized at room temperature 2 months after synthesis.

#### 3.1.3. Sustainable Material Content

The content of renewable and recycled raw materials is shown in Figure 3.6. By increasing the molar ratio of RO/PET from 1/1 to 1/8, the content of sustainable raw materials in RO/PET polyols decreased significantly from 56 % to 39 %. Therefore, a lower RO/PET ratio should be chosen to achieve a higher content of sustainable raw materials. TO/PET polyols have a similar tendency, but the difference between the polyols is smaller: the content of sustainable raw materials varies from 49 % to 55 % depending on the TO/PET ratio. The GL/ADA and GL/ADA-RO series polyols are plotted as series averages, as the difference between the content of renewable and recycled raw materials of polyols of the same series was very minimal (within 5 %). GL/ADA polyols contain on average 45 % of sustainable raw materials (consisting only of recycled materials), while sustainable material content of GL/ADA-RO polyols reached as much as 56 %.



Fig. 3.6. Recycled and renewable raw material content in synthesized polyols.

## 3.2. Rigid PU foams

Rigid PU foams with II = 130 were obtained from all synthesized polyols. As well as rigid PU foam series with II = 110; 120; 130; 150; 180 based on RO/PET 1/4 and reference polyols. The apparent densities of the obtained PU foams are given in Table 3.2, which also shows the results of closed-cell content and water absorption. The aim was to obtain foam with an apparent density of 40–45 kg/m<sup>3</sup>, as high as possible closed-cell content and as low as possible water absorption. The apparent density, closed-cell content >90 vol. %, and the water absorption (maximum 2–5 vol. %) correspond to the typical materials used for thermal insulation [44], [45].

Table 3.2

Series	Sample	Apparent density, kg/m <sup>3</sup>	Closed-cell content $\pm 1$ , vol. %	Water absorption in 7 days $\pm 0.1$ , vol. %	
	PUR NEO	$42.0 \pm 0.4$	96	2.1	
RO/PET	PUR RO/PET-2	$42.0 \pm 0.7$	95	2.3	
(with different	PUR RO/PET-4	$45.3 \pm 0.1$	95	2.6	
PET/DEG ratio)	PUR RO/PET-6	$42.0 \pm 0.3$	96	2.7	
	PUR RO/TEA	$45.2 \pm 0.4$	95	3.4	
	PUR RO/PET 1/1	$44.6 \pm 1.5$	97	2.1	
RO/PET (with different	PUR RO/PET 1/2	$41.3 \pm 2.0$	97	2.0	
RO/PET ratio)	PUR-RO/PET 1/4	$44.8 \pm 1.5$	96	2.0	
<i>II</i> = 130	PUR RO/PET 1/6	$45.8 \pm 1.2$	95	2.1	
	PUR RO/PET 1/8	$48.0 \pm 0.5$	92	2.1	
	RO/PET <i>II</i> = 110	$39.1 \pm 0.4$	95	2.9	
RO/PET with different	RO/PET <i>II</i> = 120	$38.5 \pm 0.1$	98	3.1	
isocyanate indices	RO/PET <i>II</i> = 130	$44.3 \pm 1.3$	98	2.9	
(based on polyol $DO/DET 1/4$ )	RO/PET <i>II</i> = 150	$39.1 \pm 0.4$	99	2.6	
R0/PE1 1/4)	RO/PET <i>II</i> = 180	$41.7 \pm 0.1$	97	3.1	
	TO/PET 1/1	$47.5 \pm 0.5$	_1	_1	
	TO/PET 1/2	$43.2 \pm 0.6$	_1	_1	
TO/PET	TO/PET 1/4	$43.5 \pm 1.2$	92	2.4	
	TO/PET 1/6	$42.0 \pm 1.2$	96	2.3	
	TO/PET 1/8	$41.4 \pm 0.2$	97	2.4	
	GL/ADA 0/1	$42.6 \pm 1.3$	95	2.2	
	GL/ADA 1/1	$42.5 \pm 0.7$	96	2.2	
	GL/ADA 1/3	$42.8 \pm 0.6$	93	2.5	
GL/ADA	GL/ADA 1/6	$43.1 \pm 0.6$	97	2.8	
	GL/ADA 3/3	$45.9\pm0.8$	90	1.9	
	GL/ADA 3/6	$45.1\pm0.7$	91	2.2	
	GL/ADA 6/6	$45.9\pm0.9$	98	2.3	
	GL/ADA-RO 0/1	$38.3 \pm 1.3$	96	3.3	
	GL/ADA-RO 1/1	$37.7 \pm 1.5$	95	3.2	
	GL/ADA-RO 1/3	$38.8 \pm 1.1$	94	3.2	
GL/ADA-RO	GL/ADA-RO 1/6	$47.2 \pm 0.9$	94	3.1	
	GL/ADA-RO 3/3	$44.7 \pm 0.5$	93	1.9	
	GL/ADA-RO 3/6	$46.4 \pm 0.3$	97	3.3	
	GL/ADA-RO 6/6	$52.5 \pm 0.4$	93	2.3	

Apparent Density, Closed-Cell Content and Water Absorption of PU Foams

<sup>1</sup> not measured because of the material shrinkage.

#### 3.2.1. Rigid PU Foams Based on Polyols With Different PET/DEG Ratios

From RO/PET polyols with different PET/DEG molar ratios (1/2 M, 1/4 M, 1/6 M) PU foams with II = 130 were obtained (respectively named RO/PET-2, RO/PET-4, RO/PET-6) to select the optimal PET/DEG ratio for further syntheses. The compressive strength and thermal conductivity of the obtained rigid PU foams were compared with the reference foams NEO (based on Neopolyol 380) and RO/TEA (based on RO/TEA polyol). The results of compression strength parallel and perpendicular to the direction of foaming are shown in Figure 3.7. The calculated anisotropy was in the range of 1.2 to 1.7, which is typical for freerise foams. RO/PET-2 and RO/PET-4 showed the same compression strength as NEO (0.28 MPa  $\pm$  0.04 MPa) within the margin of experimental error.



Fig. 3.7. Characteristics of rigid PU foams: a) compression strength; b) thermal conductivity.

The thermal conductivity of the prepared rigid PU foams is one of the most important properties to evaluate suitability of materials for this appliance. In general, thermal conductivity of rigid PU foams depends on the foam density, cell size, closed-cell content, and the thermal conductivity of the gases trapped in the foam cells [49]. Since the foaming agent with low thermal conductivity becomes diluted with air as it diffuses into the foam over time, thermal insulating properties of PU foams worsen (thermal conductivity increases) [50]. The thermal conductivity of Solkane 365/227, CO<sub>2</sub>, and air are 10.9 mW/(m·K) [51], 15.3 mW/(m·K), and 24,9 mW/(m·K) [52]. As rigid PU foams as an insulation material are intended for long-term use, the retention of the thermal conductivity value is also an important property for PU foams.

No difference was found in either the initial or the long-term thermal conductivity between PU foams from the synthesized RO/PET polyols with different PET/DEG ratio. In comparison to reference foams, RO/PET foams had lower thermal conductivity by ~1.1 mW/(m·K) than RO/TEA foams, but higher by ~0.6 mW/(m·K) than NEO foams. These both differences more than doubled, reaching a significant difference of ~ 10 % within 16 weeks. It was decided to use PET/DEG 1/2 and 1/4 molar ratios for further polyol syntheses.

#### 3.2.2. Rigid PU Foams Based on Polyols With Different RO/PET and TO/PET Ratios

Five polyols with a PET/DEG ratio of 1/4 M and RO/PET ratios ranging from 1/1 M to 1/8 M were synthesized from rapeseed oil and PET. Also, five polyols with PET/DEG ratio of 1/2 M and TO/PET ratios ranging from 1/1 M to 1/8 M were synthesized from tall oil and PET. A series of PU foams with II = 130 was obtained from these polyols. Rigid PU foams from TO/PET 1/1 and TO/PET 2/2 polyols showed significant shrinkage, therefore they were not used for further tests. The shrinkage of these rigid PU foams could be explained by the low  $OH_v$  of polyols as well as increased acid values (Table 3.1). To use TO/PET 1/1 and TO/PET 2/2 polyols with higher  $OH_v$  should be added and/or isocyanate index should be increased. For other TO/PET foams and RO/PET foams, the effect of TO/PET or RO/PET ratio on compression strength (Fig. 3.8) and thermal conductivity (over 24 weeks, Fig. 3.9) was evaluated.



Fig. 3.8. Compression strength of RO/PET un TO/PET rigid PU foams.

The obtained rigid PU foams showed the anisotropy (1.3 to 2.0) typical for free-rised foam. RO/PET 1/4–1/8 foams showed ~2 times higher compression strength than RO/PET 1/1–1/2. The highest compression strength (0.31 MPa  $\pm$  0.01 MPa) was shown by RO/PET 1/4 where the optimal ratio of aromatic groups and fatty acids side chains was reached (Figure 3.8). The compression strength of rigid PU foams increased with the use of polyols with a higher TO/PET ratio. This is consistent with the investigations of Cabulis *et al.* and Van Haveren *et al.* that the incorporation of the aromatic structure into the PU polymer matrix improves mechanical properties of foams [48], [49]. Overall, the showed compression strength meets the requirements for thermal insulation materials for use in construction industry [55].

The initial thermal conductivity of RO/PET foams ranged from 19.7 mW/(m·K) (for RO/PET 1/8 sample) to 21.6 mW/(m·K) (for RO/PET 1/1 sample). Over 24 weeks, the thermal conductivity of all RO/PET samples increases, but still is according to the typical thermal conductivity of PU insulation materials, which is around 18.0 mW/(m·K) to 28.0 mW/(m·K); that is, twice lower than polystyrene, which is an alternative thermal insulation material [1], [5]. Rigid PU foams from RO/PET 1/8 polyol showed the best retention of thermal conductivity. The change in thermal conductivity for this sample was

only 15 % in 24 weeks while for RO/PET 1/1 retention changed by 26 %. Over time, the thermal conductivity increased more slowly for foams with higher PET content.

The initial thermal conductivity of TO/PET rigid PU foams was similar (18.3–19.3 mW/(m·K)) and increased to 22.2–23.1 mW/(m·K) within 10 weeks (Fig. 3.9). TO/PET 1/6 sample showed the lowest thermal conductivity, but in general, the thermal conductivity of all TO/PET foams was equivalent and appropriate for the application as thermal insulation material [1,5]. Although the initial thermal conductivity of TO/PET foams was lower than that of RO/PET foams, their thermal conductivity increased faster over time and within 3 weeks TO/PET 1/6 reached the same thermal conductivity as RO/PET 1/8. Aromatic groups in the polyol structure improve the long-term thermal conductivity of the material.

RO/PET 1/4 polyol was chosen for further studies on the effect of the isocyanate index on the properties of rigid PU foams.



Fig. 3.9. Long term retention of thermal conductivity: a) RO/PET foams; b) TO/PET foams.

#### 3.2.3. Rigid PU Foams With Different Isocyanate Indices

It is known that using a higher isocyanate index results in more isocyanurate rings in PU foam as well as in an increase in the amount of non-renewable materials in the final product. The amount of isocyanurate rings in the polymer matrix affects the properties of PU foams – increases the glass transition temperature ( $T_g$ ) and improves dimensional stability as well as thermal insulation properties [15], [39].

To study the effect of the isocyanate index on the properties of rigid PU foams and to discuss the optimal isocyanate index, a series of rigid PU foams with different isocyanate indices (II = 110; 120; 130; 150; and 180) were obtained from RO/PET 1/4 polyol, as well as several reference foam series – LUPR, NEO, and RO/TEA – based on Lupranol 3300, Neopolyol 380, and RO/TEA polyols, respectively.

It is expected that the crosslinking density will increase at a higher isocyanate index. Two effects contribute to this: 1) the functionality of PMDI is 2.7 and its molecular mass is relatively small (381 g/mol), so it will work as a crosslinking reagent by itself; 2) when isocyanate is added in excess, allophanates, biurets and isocyanurates may be formed via side reactions. That will add additional crosslinking points in the PU polymer matrix.

Additionally, the increase in  $T_g$  is expected for higher crosslinking [46]. FTIR-ATR analysis was carried out for RO/PET series to judge the amount of isocyanurate formation. Since the peak of the isocyanurate group is at 1410 cm<sup>-1</sup>, in FTIR curves over the area 1460–1340 cm<sup>-1</sup> are shown. The peak intensities are very similar for foams with II = 110– 130. KAc, which acts as a trimerization catalyst, was not added to the formulations of these foams. Therefore, both the intensities of the isocyanurate peak and the glass transition temperatures  $T_g$  are similar, which were determined from the damping factor tan $\delta$  curves, see Figure 3.10 b. The  $T_g$  RO/PET for II = 120 and II = 130 foams are similar: 121 °C and 129 °C, respectively. A larger increase in  $T_g$  was observed by increasing the isocyanate index to 150 and 180, then the  $T_g$  reached 172 °C for RO/PET II = 180 sample. The results of FTIR and DMA show that the formation of isocyanurates increased the crosslinking density.



Fig. 3.10. FTIR and DMA results of RO/PET series rigid PU foams: a) isocyanurate band at 1410 cm<sup>-1</sup>; b) tan $\delta$  curves with detected  $T_g$  values.

#### **Compression strength**

Both an increase and a decrease in the compression strength of PU foams depending on the isocyanate index have been reported in literature. This is due to differences in the polymer matrix structure and the bulk density of PU foam. In the study of Kuranska *et al.*, two types of polyols were synthesized from rapeseed oil:

- 1) by epoxidation and opening of oxirane rings;
- 2) by transesterification with TEA or transamidation with diethanolamine.

For PU foams from the first type of polyols, the compressive strength decreased with increasing isocyanate index, but the compressive strength increased for PU foams from the second type [57]. In the investigation of Javni *et al.*, the soy polyol based PU foam with the lowest index (II = 110) showed the highest compression strength due to the higher apparent density [58]. Similarly, Kim *et al.* showed a decrease in the compression strength by increasing the isocyanate value (from 90 to 130), but also in this case the apparent density of PU foams had a greater effect than the structure of the polymer matrix [41]. In the present study, the results of the compression strength and elastic modulus were normalized to the same apparent density  $-45 \text{ kg/m}^3$ .

The compression strength of RO/PET PU foams slightly increased with an increase in the isocyanate index. It raised from 0.30 MPa (for the sample RO/PET II = 110) to 0.37 MPa (for

the sample RO/PET II = 180). The same trend was observed for elastic modulus too, which raised from 6.35 MPa to 7.61 MPa (Fig. 3.11).



Fig. 3.11. Physical-mechanical properties of PU foams with different isocyanate indices: a) compression strength; b) elastic modulus.

Due to the higher elasticity of the foam, the anisotropy coefficient for RO/PET II = 180 was lower (the anisotropy coefficient was 1.79) than for the samples with a lower isocyanate index (the anisotropy coefficient is 1.85–2.16). The RO/PET foam series had a higher compression strength than the LUPR and RO/TEA series, but slightly lower than the NEO series. For reference foams, the compression strength and modulus of elasticity decreased for samples with an isocyanate index from 110 to 130. This could be due to the lack of a trimerization catalyst – the isocyanate does not trimerize, no additional crosslinking points are formed and unreacted isocyanate remains in the foam. Nevertheless, the compression strength of all samples corresponded to a typical industrially produced rigid PU foam (0.15–0.25 MPa) [58].

#### **Dimensional stability**

The increase of the isocyanate index improves dimensional stability due to the incorporation of the isocyanurate ring into the PU foam matrix [59]. The results of dimensional stability for the RO/PET series and reference foams are presented in Figure 3.12.



Fig. 3.12. Dimensional stability – relative volume change under 2 test conditions: a) 28 days at 70 °C, dry conditions; b) 28 days at 70 °C, *R.H.* = 97 %.

Relative change of volume decreased from 4.0 % to 1.0 % with increasing isocyanate index after 28 days at 70°C, ambient *R.H.* At mode where *R.H.* = 97 %, volume change for RO/PET series was below 15 % and reached the minimum 3.4 % when II = 180. Although RO/PET polyols show better compatibility with blowing agents, which could improve dimensional stability, it was not observed in the results of the present study. Overall, starting from II = 130 and up, dimensional stability is considered to be acceptable.

#### **Thermal conductivity**

The initial thermal conductivity of rigid PU foams was measured, and the increase of thermal conductivity in the aging process of the material was evaluated. The initial thermal conductivity is given in Figure 3.13 a, which shows that rigid PU foams from RO/PET polyol showed thermal insulation properties (series average as good  $\lambda_{\text{RO/PET}} = (20.7 \pm 0.7) \text{ mW/(m·K)}$  as NEO and LUPR foams from commercially used polyols (series average  $\lambda_{\text{NEO}} = (21.2 \pm 0.7) \text{ mW/(m·K)}$  and  $\lambda_{\text{LUPR}} = (21.9 \pm 0.2) \text{ mW/(m·K)}$ ). Rigid PU foam from RO/TEA polyol showed slightly higher thermal conductivity (average  $\lambda_{\text{RO/TEA}} = (22.9 \pm 1.2 \text{ mW/(m \cdot K)})$ . The graph also shows that the isocyanate index does not affect the initial thermal conductivity of PU foams significantly.



Fig. 3.13. Thermal conductivity of PU foams: a) initial thermal conductivity; b) relative change of thermal conductivity in 24 weeks.

To evaluate the retention of thermal conductivity in the long term, Figure 3.13 b is presented with results of relative change of thermal conductivity in 24 weeks. The best retention of thermal conductivity was shown by the PU foams of NEO series from PET-based aromatic polyester polyol. The retention of thermal conductivity depends on the gas diffusion rate of the blowing agent through rigid PU foam material. This is related to the crosslink density of PU polymer matrix, cohesion energy, and ability of macromolecular conformation of PU polymer chains. NEO and RO/PET polyol structure have aromatic groups derived from PET polymer and additional carboxylic groups that allow the formation of hydrogen bonds between the polymer chains. Both of these aspects contribute to a stronger and more neatly packed polymer matrix, which minimizes the outward flow of the carbon dioxide and inward flow of air, thus enhancing long-term thermal conductivity retention.

#### 3.2.4. Rigid PU Foams From Polyols With Functional Additives

Rigid PU foams with an apparent density of ~43 kg/m<sup>3</sup> were obtained from GL/ADA and GL/ADA-RO polyols. The structure, branching, and functionality of the polyol chain can be changed by changing the amount of ADA, GL, and rapeseed oil. The incorporation of fatty oil-based aliphatic fragments from rapeseed oil decreased the viscosity of the polyol and increased the overall flexibility of the molecular chain [60]. As a result of that, PU foams from GL/ADA-RO polyols were with larger and more regular cells than from GL/ADA polyols. The average cell size of the GL/ADA PU foams was about 330  $\mu$ m. Whereas the GL/ADA-RO foams had an average cell size of 420  $\mu$ m, approximately 30 % larger than of GL/ADA foams. Altering the GL/ADA content in the polyol had little effect on the resulting cell size.

#### **Compression strength and elastic modulus**

The mechanical properties of the PU rigid foams directly depend on the chemical structure of polyols used in their production [61], on the density and developed cell anisotropy [62]. Elasticity (Fig. 3.14) and compression strength (Fig. 3.15) in parallel to the foam rise direction (index z) are larger than in the perpendicular to foam rise direction (index x) for all compositions, which is indicative of high anisotropy of the cell structure of the foams. Elastic modulus and compression strength increased significantly as greater amounts of functional additives were introduced into the polyols. Increasing the GL content of polyols results in a branched-chain structure with additional hydroxyl groups in the middle of the chains [63]. Consequently, the reaction with the isocyanate results in the formation of a dense PU polymer structure with a higher crosslinking density. The addition of ADA produces extra alkyl soft segments in the PU polymer network [60]. These short soft segments in the PU macromolecular chain are favorable for the conformational mobility and development of the dense networks of hydrogen bonds [46]. The influence of hydrogen bonding on the mechanical properties of rapeseed oil-based PU foams has also been demonstrated previously [60], [61]. Possible reasons for hydrogen bond formation in PUs include ester-urethane, urethane-urethane, and urethane-amide hydrogen bonding. The following examples of improvement in mechanical properties by adding functional additives may be mentioned:  $E_z$ of PU foam GL/ADA 3/3 ( $E_z = 11,5$  MPa) is almost 3-times higher than for PU foam GL/ADA 0/1 ( $E_z$  = 3,5 MPa); For GL/ADA 0/1  $\sigma_z$  it is 0,18 MPa, but for GL/ADA 6/6 almost 2-times higher -0.35 MPa.

The PU rigid foams prepared from GL/ADA polyols had a slightly higher compression strength and elasticity modulus than foams prepared from GL/ADA-RO polyols. It seems likely that the long flexible aliphatic chains (fatty acid chains  $C_{16}$ – $C_{18}$ ), which are present in the PU macromolecular network of the GL/ADA-RO foams, have a plasticizing effect, resulting in improved viscoelasticity of the foams [66]. The distance between the crosslinking points in the PU network was larger for the GL/ADA-RO foams than the GL/ADA foams. The higher mechanical properties of the GL/ADA foams are also likely due to the higher concentration of ester and aromatic groups in the polyol and developed PU chain network [46]. Thus, it can be assumed that a more efficient and stronger hydrogen bonding network

occurs between the functional groups in the PU GL/ADA polymer than in the PU GL/ADA-RO polymer [67].



Fig. 3.14. Elastic modulus of GL/ADA and GL/ADA-RO PU foams: a) perpendicular to foaming direction; b) parallel to foaming. direction.





#### Storage, loss modulus, and glass transition temperature

The DMA of PU foams was recorded versus the temperature at the heating operation mode (Fig. 3.16). Viscoelasticity of polymer material improves and rigidity drops, while the operation temperature increases due to the dominance of viscous flow of the macromolecular chain. The loss modulus of PU foams GL/ADA-RO 1/1, GL/ADA-RO 1/3, and GL/ADA-RO 1/6 had a local maximum at 91, 95, and 100 °C, respectively. It testifies that higher energy is required and dissipated by the macromolecular chains for occurring viscoelastic deformation [68]. The next important viscoelastic characteristic of the material is the damping effectivity that relates to the relative height loss–damping factor (tan $\delta$ ), which is calculated as the ratio of *E*" to *E*'. Peak height intensity of tan $\delta$  decreased from 0.47 (GL/ADA-RO 1/1) to 0.43

(GL/ADA-RO 1/6). It shows that the polymer chain network deforms with extensive internal friction [69]. This drop in effectivity of energy dissipation after the incorporation of soft dangling segments also greatly confirmed the enhancements of the material's viscoelastic characteristics due to the following factors:

- restrained conformation mobility of the chain segments between the entanglement sites [70];
- 2) strong interactions between the soft-hard segments of the developed chain network [71];
- 3) dense packing density of the soft segments [72].



Fig. 3.16. DMA spectra: a) storage modulus E'; b) loss modulus E''; c) tan $\delta$ .

#### Thermal conductivity

The time-dependent thermal conductivity of the prepared PU foams is shown in Figure 3.17. The thermal conductivity of tfoams decreased by 10 % when ADA content increased in the formulations, and this decrease is significant for thermal insulation materials. The obtained cellular structure of the PU foams was very regular, the average cell size was about 110  $\mu$ m. Altering the ADA content in the polyol did not affect the foam cells' size and shape. The observed decrease in thermal conductivity can be related to the enhanced foam cell wall material's viscoelastic properties. It can also relate to the observed increase in glass transition (up to 8 °C) due to the restrained conformation mobility of the chain segments between the entanglement sites in the crosslinked polymer chain network and possible development of additional hydrogen bonding, thereby substantially limiting the diffusion of foaming agent Solkane 365/227 out of cells. Overall, GL/ADA-RO PU rigid foams have sufficient properties to be used for different thermal insulation applications.



Fig. 3.17. Thermal conductivity of GL/ADA-RO and GL/ADA PU foams.

#### 3.2.5. The Most Promising Rigid PU Foams

From all rigid PU foam series, the most promising samples were selected (Table 3.3). The criteria were the thermal insulation and physical-mechanical properties of PU foams, as well as the amount of sustainable raw materials (sum of renewable + recycled raw materials) in the material.

Table 3.3

Sample	Apparent density, kg/m <sup>3</sup>	$\lambda, mW/(m\cdot K)$	$\lambda_{12 weeks.}, \ mW/(m\cdot K)$	σ <sub>z</sub> , MPa	Renewable materials, %	Recycled materials, %	Sustainable materials, %
RO/PET-4	$45.3 \pm 0.1$	20.7	24.1	0.27	11.3	3.9	15.2
<b>RO/PET 1/4</b>	$44.8 \pm 1.5$	20.2	23.2	0.31	8.4	4.9	13.3
TO/PET 1/4	$43.5 \pm 1.2$	18.7	23.5	0.26	6.6	10.4	17.1
RO/PET <i>II</i> = 150	$39.1 \pm 0.4$	21.2	25.5	0.36	7.5	4.4	12.0
GL/ADA-RO 1/6	$47.2\pm0.9$	20.7	24.6	0.23	10.8	5.4	16.2
GL/ADA-RO 3/3	$44.7 \pm 0.5$	20.2	24.0	0.26	10.5	5.2	15.7

Charactristics of Most Promising Rigid PU Foams

The closed-cell content, thermal conductivity, and compression strength values of rigid PU foams shown in the table are typical of PU thermal insulation material. The highest content of sustainable raw materials (17.1%) is for TO/PET 1/4 PU foam, this foam also showed the lowest initial thermal conductivity. For PU foam derived from rapeseed oil, the maximal content of sustainable raw materials (16.2 %) is for GL/ADA-RO 1/6 PU sample. For all PU foams mentioned in the table, water absorption and dimensional stability are appropriate for the application of thermal insulation material. The base polyols of these PU foams are compatible with the foaming agent Solkane 365/227. Base polyols are stable during long-term storage – they do not crystallize. Their viscosity is from 540 mP·s to 1850 mP·s (which is more than 5 times lower than NEO polyol). The results show that selected polyols and polyol system formulated using these polyols are suitable for the production of rigid PU foams that can be applied as thermal insulation material.

## CONCLUSIONS

- 1. Characterization of RO/PET and TO/PET polyols, their suitability for obtaining rigid PU foams.
  - a. The viscosity of RO/PET and TO/PET polyols is several times lower than that of aromatic polyester polyols. The lower viscosity improves applicability of polyols in the production of rigid PU foam (no heating required, the polyol system and the reaction mixture including the isocyanate component can be mixed more efficiently, thus obtaining a higher quality material).
  - b. All synthesized RO/PET and TO/PET polyols are compatible with physical foaming agent Solkane 365/227, which is used in the production of rigid PU foams.
  - c. Polyols with an RO/PET ratio of 1/1 M to 1/6 M and a TO/PET ratio of 1/1 M to 1/4 M are stable in long-term storage and no crystallization is observed. Crystallization of polyols is undesirable in the production of rigid PU foams.
  - d.  $OH_v$  varies over a wide range, from 193 mg KOH/g (for TO/PET 1/1 polyol) to 520 (mg KOH)/g (for RO/PET 1/8 polyol).  $OH_v$  is higher for polyols that contain more PET. This is due to both, aromatic polyester's higher  $OH_v$  than RO/TEA and TO/TEA polyols, and with the excess of DEG used in polyol synthesis.
  - e. the moisture content of all synthesized polyols is appropriate for obtaining rigid PU foams.
  - f. the content of sustainable raw materials in polyols reaches up to  $\sim$ 55 %.
- 2. By using functional additives such as GL and ADA in the synthesis of polyols, it is possible to vary and improve the properties of obtained rigid PU foams.
  - a. Glycolysis of PET without the addition of rapeseed oil gives oligomeric polyols with high viscosity (for polyol GL/ADA 0/1  $\mu$  = 3130 mPa·s). The addition of a small amount (1–6 wt. %) of GL and/or ADA reduces the viscosity of these polyols by about three times, increases the hydroxyl number, and improves compatibility with foaming agent Solkane 365/227.
  - b. Transesterification of GL/ADA polyols with rapeseed oil polyol gives lower viscosity polyols that are compatible with foaming reagent Solkane 365/227 and are stable during long-term storage.
  - c. Physical-mechanical properties of rigid PU foams are improved when functional additives are added in the synthesis of base polyols.
  - d. Increasing the amount of ADA in the formulation reduces the thermal conductivity of PU foams by 10 %.

- 3. Influence of aromatic groups on the properties of rigid PU foams.
  - a. Using recycled PET in the synthesis of polyols, aromatic groups are introduced into the structure of polyols. This makes it possible to obtain rigid PU foams with improved properties compared to the PU foams obtained from rapeseed and tall oil polyols without PET.
  - b. As the amount of PET in rigid PU foams increases, the physical-mechanical properties (compression strength) and long-term retention of thermal insulation properties improve.
- 4. The most promising rigid PU foam formulations.
  - a. the optimal TO/PET ratio in polyol is 1/4 M. The acid value for polyols with lower TO/PET ratios is too high (>5 mg KOH/ g) and the resulting rigid PU foams have insufficient dimensional stability. In turn, polyols with higher TO/PET ratios crystallize during storage (in 2 months).
  - b. The optimal RO/PET ratio is from 1/4 M to 1/6 M. For the series with different isocyanate indices, the most promising RO/PET 1/4 polyol was chosen.
  - c. RO/PET 1/4 polyol contains ~44 % of sustainable raw materials, but the most promising polyol TO/PET 1/4 in the TO/PET series -50 % of sustainable materials.
  - d. Recommended isocyanate index for rigid PU foam from RO/PET 1/4 polyol is II = 150, which ensures excellent dimensional stability of the foam. The content of sustainable raw materials for such material is 12 %.
  - e. GL/ADA-RO 1/6 and 3/3 polyols have been selected as optimal GL/ADA-RO polyols. Rigid PU foams obtained from them contain ~16 % of sustainable raw materials.

#### REFERENCES

- 1. Xia, Y., Larock, R. C. Vegetable Oil-Based Polymeric Materials: Synthesis, Properties, and Applications. *Green Chem.*, **2010**, *12*, 1893–1909.
- 2. Mosiewicki, M. A., Aranguren, M. I. Recent Developments in Plant Oil Based Functional Materials. *Polym. Int.*, **2015**, *65*, 28–38.
- 3. Mizera, K., Ryszkowska, J. Polyurethane Elastomers from Polyols Based on Soybean Oil with a Different Molar Ratio. *Polym. Degrad. Stab.*, **2016**, *132*, 21–31.
- 4. Ji, D., Fang, Z., He, W., Luo, Z., Jiang, X., Wang, T., Guo, K. Polyurethane Rigid Foams Formed from Different Soy-Based Polyols by the Ring Opening of Epoxidised Soybean Oil with Methanol, Phenol, and Cyclohexanol. *Ind. Crops Prod.*, **2015**, *74*, 76–82.
- Ionescu, M., Radojčić, D., Wan, X., Shrestha, M. L., Petrović, Z. S., Upshaw, T. A. Highly Functional Polyols from Castor Oil for Rigid Polyurethanes. *Eur. Polym. J.*, 2016, 84, 736–749.
- 6. Zhang, M., Pan, H., Zhang, L., Hu, L., Zhou, Y. Study of the Mechanical, Thermal Properties and Flame Retardancy of Rigid Polyurethane Foams Prepared from Modified Castor-Oil-Based Polyols. *Ind. Crops Prod.*, **2014**, *59*, 135–143.
- Tanaka, R., Hirose, S., Hatakeyama, H. Preparation and Characterization of Polyurethane Foams Using a Palm Oil-Based Polyol. *Bioresour. Technol.*, 2008, 99, 3810–3816.
- Ng, W. S., Lee, C. S., Chuah, C. H., Cheng, S.-F. Preparation and Modification of Water-Blown Porous Biodegradable Polyurethane Foams with Palm Oil-Based Polyester Polyol. *Ind. Crops Prod.*, 2017, 97, 65–78.
- Omrani, I., Farhadian, A., Babanejad, N., Shendi, H. K., Ahmadi, A., Nabid, M. R. Synthesis of Novel High Primary Hydroxyl Functionality Polyol from Sunflower Oil Using Thiol-Yne Reaction and Their Application in Polyurethane Coating. *Eur. Polym. J.*, **2016**, *82*, 220–231.
- 10. Das, B., Konwar, U., Mandal, M., Karak, N. Sunflower Oil Based Biodegradable Hyperbranched Polyurethane as a Thin Film Material. *Ind. Crops Prod.*, **2013**, *44*, 396–404.
- Zieleniewska, M., Leszczynski, M. K., Kuranska, M., Prociak, A., Szczepkowski, L., Krzyzowska, M., Ryszkowska, J. Preparation and Characterisation of Rigid Polyurethane Foams Using a Rapeseed Oil-Based Polyol. *Ind. Crops Prod.*, 2015, 74, 887–897.
- 12. Kurańska, M., Prociak, A. The Influence of Rapeseed Oil-Based Polyols on the Foaming Process of Rigid Polyurethane Foams. *Ind. Crops Prod.*, **2016**, *89*, 182–187.
- Zając, T., Klimek-Kopyra, A., Oleksy, A., Lorenc-Kozik, A., Ratajczak, K. Analysis of Yield and Plant Traits of Oilseed Rape (Brassica Napus L.) Cultivated in Temperate Region in Light of the Possibilities of Sowing in Arid Areas. *Acta Agrobot.*, 2016, 69, 1–13.
- 14. Paciorek-Sadowska, J., Borowicz, M., Isbrandt, M., Czupryński, B., Apiecionek, Ł. The Use of Waste from the Production of Rapeseed Oil for Obtaining of New Polyurethane Composites. *Polymers (Basel).*, **2019**, *11*, 1–21.
- Kurańska, M., Prociak, A., Kirpluks, M., Cabulis, U. Polyurethane–Polyisocyanurate Foams Modified with Hydroxyl Derivatives of Rapeseed Oil. *Ind. Crops Prod.*, 2015, 74, 849–857.
- 16. Yakushin, V., Stirna, U., Bikovens, O., Misane, M., Sevastyanova, I., Vilsone, D. Synthesis and Characterization of Novel Polyurethanes Basedon Vegetable Oils Amide and Ester Polyols. *Mater. Sci.*, **2014**, *20*, 277–282.

- 17. Oprea, S. Effect of Composition and Hard-Segment Content on Thermo-Mechanical Properties of Cross-Linked Polyurethane Copolymers. *High Perform. Polym.*, **2009**, *21*, 353–370.
- Badri, K. H., Mohd Dawi, L. I., Abd Aziz, N. A. Rigid Polyurethane Foam from Glycolysed Polyethylene Terephthalate Dissolved in Palm-Based Polyol. *Sains Malaysiana*, 2013, 42, 449–457.
- 19. Roy, P. K., Mathur, R., Kumar, D., Rajagopal, C. Tertiary Recycling of Poly(Ethylene Terephthalate) Wastes for Production of Polyurethane-Polyisocyanurate Foams. J. *Environ. Chem. Eng.*, **2013**, *1*, 1062–1069.
- 20. Sheldon, R. A. Green and Sustainable Manufacture of Chemicals from Biomass: State of the Art. *Green Chem.*, **2014**, *16*, 950–963.
- 21. Huibers, D. T. A. Tall Oil. Kirk-Othmer Encycl. Chem. Technol. Kirk-Othmer (Ed.), John Wiley Sons, 1995.
- 22. Li, Y., Luo, X., Hu, S. Polyols and Polyurethanes from Vegetable Oils and Their Derivatives, *in: Bio-based Polyols and Polyurethanes, Springer*, **2015**, 15–43.
- 23. Trowell, J. M. Polyols from Tall Oil and Aromatic Polyester Polyols. 4758602 A, 1988.
- 24. Pingale, N. D., Shukla, S. R. Microwave Assisted Ecofriendly Recycling of Poly (Ethylene Terephthalate) Bottle Waste. *Eur. Polym. J.*, **2008**, *44*, 4151–4156.
- 25. de Mello, D., Pezzin, S. H., Amico, S. C. The Effect of Post-Consumer PET Particles on the Performance of Flexible Polyurethane Foams. *Polym. Test.*, **2009**, *28*, 702–708.
- 26. Coker, R. 58.2% of PET bottles collected according to 2017 Survey. https://www.eppm.com/materials/pet-bottles-collected-2017-survey/.
- 27. Sinha, V., Patel, M. R., Patel, J. V. Pet Waste Management by Chemical Recycling: A Review. J. Polym. Environ., 2010, 18, 8–25.
- 28. Scheirs, J. Recycling of PET, Polymer Recycling; Science, Technology and Applications; *Wiley Ser. Polym. Sci. Wiley Sons Chichester, UK*, **1998**, 119–182.
- 29. Mosadeghzad, Z., Ahmad, I., Daik, R., Ramli, A., Jalaludin, Z. Preparation and Properties of Acacia Sawdust / UPR Composite Based on Recycled PET. *Malaysian Polym. J.*, **2009**, *4*, 30–41.
- 30. Pardal, F., Tersac, G. Comparative Reactivity of Glycols in PET Glycolysis. *Polym. Degrad. Stab.*, **2006**, *91*, 2567–2578.
- Pardal, F., Tersac, G. Kinetics of Poly(Ethylene Terephthalate) Glycolysis by Diethylene Glycol. Part II: Effect of Temperature, Catalyst and Polymer Morphology. *Polym. Degrad. Stab.*, 2007, 92, 611–616.
- 32. Cata, A., Bandur, G., Balcu, I., Buzatu, D., Tanasie, C., Rosu, D. Preliminary Studies about PET Degradation. Rheological Determinations on Glycolysis Products Obtained with Propylene Glycol. *Chem. Bull. "POLITEHNICA" Univ.*, **2007**, *52*, 143–146.
- 33. Vitkauskiene, I., Makuska, R., Stirna, U., Cabulis, U. Synthesis and Physical-Mechanical Properties of Polyurethane- Polyisocyanurate Foams Based on PET-Waste-Derived Modified Polyols. J. Cell. Plast., **2011**, 47, 467–482.
- 34. Kathalewar, M., Dhopatkar, N., Pacharane, B., Sabnis, A., Raut, P., Bhave, V. Chemical Recycling of PET Using Neopentyl Glycol: Reaction Kinetics and Preparation of Polyurethane Coatings. *Prog. Org. Coatings*, 2013, 76, 147–156.
- 35. Vitkauskiene, I., Makuška, R., Stirna, U., Cabulis, U. Thermal Properties of Polyurethane-Polyisocyanurate Foams Based on Poly(Ethylene Terephthalate) Waste. *Medziagotyra*, **2011**, *17*, 249–253.
- 36. Cakić, S. M., Ristić, I. S., Cincović, M. M., Stojiljković, D. T., János, C. J., Miroslav, C. J., Stamenković, J. V. Glycolyzed Poly(Ethylene Terephthalate) Waste and Castor Oil-Based Polyols for Waterborne Polyurethane Adhesives Containing Hexamethoxymethyl Melamine. *Prog. Org. Coatings*, **2015**, *78*, 357–368.

- 37. Pillai, P. K. S., Li, S., Bouzidi, L., Narine, S. S. Metathesized Palm Oil Polyol for the Preparation of Improved Bio-Based Rigid and Flexible Polyurethane Foams. *Ind. Crops Prod.*, 2016, 83, 568–576.
- 38. Sonnenschein, M. F. *Polyurethanes: Science, Technology, Markets, and Trends*; John Wiley & Sons: Michigan, USA, **2014**.
- 39. Romero, R. R. A Study of the Reaction Kinetics of Polyisocyanurate Foam Formulations Using Real-Time FTIR. J. Cell. Plast., 2005, 41, 339–359.
- 40. Chattopadhyay, D. K., Webster, D. C. Thermal Stability and Flame Retardancy of Polyurethanes. *Prog. Polym. Sci.*, **2009**, *34*, 1068–1133.
- 41. Kim, S. H., Kim, B. K., Lim, H. Effect of Isocyanate Index on the Properties of Rigid Polyurethane Foams Blown by HFC 365mfc. *Macromol. Res.*, **2008**, *16*, 467–472.
- 42. Kapps, M.,Buschkamp, S. The Production of Rigid Polyurethane Foam. *Bayer Mater. Sci.*, **2004**, 1–46.
- 43. Gaidukovs, S., Gaidukova, G., Ivdre, A., Cabulis, U. Viscoelastic and Thermal Properties of Polyurethane Foams Obtained from Renewable and Recyclable Components. *J. Renew. Mater.*, **2018**, *6*, 755–763.
- 44. Hawkins, M. C. Cell Morphology and Mechanical Properties of Rigid Polyurethane Foam. J. Cell. Plast., 2005, 41, 267–285.
- 45. Ahmed, K. M., McLeod, M. P., Nézivar, J., Giuliani, A. W. Fourier Transform Infrared and Near-Infrared Spectroscopic Methods for the Detection of Toxic Diethylene Glycol (DEG) Contaminant in Glycerin Based Cough Syrup. *Spectroscopy*, **2010**, *24*, 601–608.
- 46. Ionescu, M. *Chemistry and Technology of Polyols for Polyurethane*.; Shropshire Smithers Rapra Press: Shawbury, Shrewsbury, **2005**.
- 47. PU-rigid foam the slim insulation with fat benefits. https://www.linzmeier.de/en/advantages-of-pu/pu-rigid-foam.
- 48. BASF; Foam, T. insulation with E.H. spray. http://www.polyurethanes. basf.de/pu/solutions/en/function/conversions:/publish/content/group/News\_und\_ Medien/Polyurethan/Elastopor\_GB.pdf.
- 49. Ahern, A., Verbist, G., Weaire, D., Phelan, R., Fleurent, H. The Conductivity of Foams: A Generalisation of the Electrical to the Thermal Case. *Colloids Surfaces A Physicochem. Eng. Asp.*, **2005**, *263*, 275–279.
- 50. Shankland, I. R. Measurement of Gas Diffusion in Closed-Cell Foams. In: *Insulation materials: testing and applications*; McElroy, D.L.; Kimpflen, J.F., Eds.; American Society for Testing and Materials: Philadelphia, **1990**; p. 759.
- 51. Solvay. Solkane 365 Foaming Agents. http://www.solvaychemicals.com/Chemicals% 20Literature%20Documents/Fluor/solkane\_insulation/SOLKANE\_365\_Foaming\_ Agents.pdf.http://www.solvaychemicals.com/Chemicals%25 20Literature%2520Documents/Fluor/solkane\_insulation/SOLKANE\_365\_Foaming\_ Agents.pdf.
- 52. Randall, D., Lee, S. *The Polyurethanes Book*; John Wiley & Sons Ltd: New York, **2002**.
- 53. Cabulis, U., Kirpluks, M., Stirna, U., Lopez, M. J., Del Carmen Vargas-Garcia, M., Suárez-Estrella, F., Moreno, J. Rigid Polyurethane Foams Obtained from Tall Oil and Filled with Natural Fibers: Application as a Support for Immobilization of Lignin-Degrading Microorganisms. J. Cell. Plast., 2012, 48, 500–515.
- 54. van Haveren, J., Scott, E. L., Sanders, J. Bulk Chemicals from Biomass. *Biofuels, Bioprod. Biorefining*, **2008**, 41–57.
- 55. Federation of European Rigid Polyurethane Foam, R. Thermal Insulation Materials Made of Rigid Polyurethane Foam. **2012**, *1*, 1–33.

- Zatorski, W., Brzozowski, Z. K., Kolbrecki, A. New Developments in Chemical Modification of Fire-Safe Rigid Polyurethane Foams. *Polym. Degrad. Stab.*, 2008, 93, 2071–2076.
- 57. Kurańska, M., Prociak, A., Kirpluks, M., Cabulis, U. Polyurethane–Polyisocyanurate Foams Modified with Hydroxyl Derivatives of Rapeseed Oil. *Ind. Crops Prod.*, **2015**, *74*, 849–857.
- 58. Javni, I., Zhang, W., Petrović, Z. S. Soybean-Oil-Based Polyisocyanurate Rigid Foams. J. Polym. Environ., 2004, 12, 123–129.
- 59. Stirna, U., Cabulis, U., Beverte, I. Water-Blown Polyisocyanurate Foams From Vegetable Oil Polyols. J. Cell. Plast., **2008**, 44, 139–160.
- 60. Xu, W., Zhou, L., Sun, W., Zhang, J., Tu, W. Effect of Difunctional Acids on the Physicochemical, Thermal, and Mechanical Properties of Polyester Polyol-Based Polyurethane Coatings. J. Appl. Polym. Sci., **2015**, 132, 1–10.
- 61. Szycher, M. *Szycher's Handbook of Polyurethanes*; 2nd ed.; CRC Press: Boca Raton, FL., **2012**.
- 62. Hamilton, A. R., Thomsen, O. T., Madaleno, L. A. O., Jensen, L. R., Rauhe, J. C. M., Pyrz, R. Evaluation of the Anisotropic Mechanical Properties of Reinforced Polyurethane Foams. *Compos. Sci. Technol.*, **2013**, *87*, 210–217.
- 63. Luo, X., Li, Y. Synthesis and Characterization of Polyols and Polyurethane Foams from PET Waste and Crude Glycerol. *J. Polym. Environ.*, **2014**, 318–328.
- 64. Stirna, U., Beverte, I., Yakushin, V., Cabulis, U. Mechanical Properties of Rigid Polyurethane Foams at Room and Cryogenic Temperatures. *J. Cell. Plast.*, **2011**, *47*, 337–355.
- 65. Gaidukov, S., Cabulis, U., Gromilova, K., Tupureina, V., Grigalovica, A. Preparation and Structural Properties of Free Films from Rapeseed Oil-Based Rigid Polyurethane-Montmorillonite Nanocomposites. *Int. J. Polym. Sci.*, **2013**, *2013*.
- 66. Ashida, K. *Polyurethane and Related Foams*; CRC Press: Boca Raton London New York, **2006**.
- 67. Li, C., Luo, X., Li, T., Tong, X., Li, Y. Polyurethane Foams Based on Crude Glycerol-Derived Biopolyols: One-Pot Preparation of Biopolyols with Branched Fatty Acid Ester Chains and Its Effects on Foam Formation and Properties. *Polymer (Guildf).*, 2014, 55, 6529–6538.
- 68. Li, M., Bai, C., Shi, M., Zhou, H. Using DMA to Study Protection Performance of Polyurethane Foam to Underwater Blast Bubble Impulsion. *Adv. Mater. Res.*, **2013**, *651*, 174–180.
- 69. Aou, K., Ge, S., Mowery, D. M., Zeigler, R. C., Gamboa, R. R. Two-Domain Morphology in Viscoelastic Polyurethane Foams. *Polymer (Guildf).*, **2015**, *56*, 37–45.
- Andrady, A. L., Llorente, M. A., Mark, J. E. Effects of Dangling Chains on Some Dynamic Mechanical Properties of Model Poly(Dimethylsiloxane) Networks. *Polym. Bull.*, **1992**, 28, 103–108.
- 71. Yilgör, I., Yilgör, E., Wilkes, G. L. Critical Parameters in Designing Segmented Polyurethanes and Their Effect on Morphology and Properties: A Comprehensive Review. *Polymer (Guildf).*, **2015**, *58*, A1–A36.
- Mora-Murillo, L. D., Orozco-Gutierrez, F., Vega-Baudrit, J., González-Paz, R. J. Thermal-Mechanical Characterization of Polyurethane Rigid Foams: Effect of Modifying Bio-Polyol Content in Isocyanate Prepolymers. *J. Renew. Mater.*, 2017, 5, 220–230.

## ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Many thanks to my great Polymer Departmentcolleagues:

- Mikelis Kirpluks for responsiveness in all questions and readiness to always help;
- Anda Fridrihsone for experimental ideas, for her determination, ability to plan and organize the work;
- Arnis Abolins for his work in polyol synthesis;
- Edgars Vanags and Laima Vevere for the analytical chemistry analyses;
- Irina Sevastyanova for accurate work in foaming;
- Laimonis Deme for all practical work in sample preparation;
- Laura Silare for excellent SEM results and friendly support;
- Dzintra Vilsone for the help in thermogravimetry;
- Vladimirs Yakushins for the help in foams mechanical properties testing;
- Viesturs Zeltins for participation in project topics.

Thanks to Sergejs Gaidukovs and Gerda Gaidukova, Anda Fridrihsone, Guillermo Daniel Soto, Anrijs Verovkins, Mikelis Kirpluks, Irina Sevastyanova, Arnis Abolins, Ugis Cabulis, and Remo Merijs-Meri for teamwork in publication of the results.

Thanks to my supervisors Dr. sc. ing. Ugis Cabulis and Prof. Dr.sc.ing. Remo Merijs-Meri. I am grateful to Vice-Dean Dr.chem. Ieva Jaunzeme who suggested to write a doctoral thesis as a set of publications.

Thanks also to the reviewers of the dissertation – Prof. Dr. sc. ing. Jurijs Ozolins, Prof. Dr. sc. ing. Hynek Benes and Docent Dr. chem. Ingars Reinholds.

A heartfelt thank you to my family for all the support, cheer and encouragement!